Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences

journal homepage: www.sciencedirect.com

Review

Gold and silver nanoparticles: Green synthesis, microbes, mechanism, factors, plant disease management and environmental risks

Fatimah S. Al-khattaf

Department of Botany and Microbiology, College of Science, King Saud University, Riyadh 11451, Saudi Arabia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 February 2021 Revised 17 March 2021 Accepted 31 March 2021 Available online 9 April 2021

Keywords: Green synthesis nanoparticles Fungi Bacteria Mechanism Factors Plant disease management Environmental risks

ABSTRACT

Metal nanoparticles were being used in different processes of developmental sectors like agriculture, industry, medical and pharmaceuticals. Nano-biotechnology along with sustainable organic chemistry has immense potential to reproduce innovative and key components of the systems to support surrounding environment, human health, and industry sustainably. Different unconventional methods were being used in green chemistry to synthesize gold and silver nanoparticles from various microbes. So, we reviewed different biological processes for green synthesis of metal nanoparticles. We also studied the mechanism of the synthesis process and procedures to characterize them. Some metallic nanoparticles have shown their potential to act as antimicrobial agent against plant pathogens. Here, we outlined green nanoparticles synthesized from microbes and highlighted their role against plant disease management. © 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	3625
2.	Green synthesis of nanoparticles.	3625
	2.1. Polysaccharide method	3625
	2.2. Tollens method	3625
	2.3. Irradiation method	3625
	2.4. Polyoxometalates method.	3625
	2.5. Biological method	3626
3.	Microbial synthesis of nanoparticles by microbes	3626
	3.1. Fungi	3626
	3.1.1. The mechanism of biosynthesis of NPs using fungi	3626
	3.2. Bacteria	3627
	3.2.1. Mechanism of NPs synthesis using bacteria	3627
4.	Factors affecting biological synthesis of metal nanoparticles	3628
	4.1. pH	3628
	4.2. Effect of temperature	3628
	4.3. Effect of AgNO ₃ concentration	3628
5.	Phytopathogens control by green synthesized nanoparticles	3628
6.	Mechanisms of nanoparticles against plant pathogenic microorganisms	3629

E-mail address: falkhataf@ksu.edu.sa

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University.

ELSEVIER Production and hosting by Elsevier

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2021.03.078

1319-562X/© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).





7.	Environmental risks of nanoparticles	3629
	Declaration of Competing Interest	3629
	References	3629

1. Introduction

Nanobiotechnology has been advanced as a substitute to replace environmentally destructive technologies and productions because of their negative significances being faced globally and the insufficient timeline to gain beneficial results (Hurst, 2020). It is assumed that by the end of 2020 green chemistry may have an Economic payoff by saving up to USD 65.5 billion (Menges, 2017). The circular economies (waste and emissions control, the maintenance of goods and resources in use, and the recovery of natural resources) always required to have a balanced economic development, resource management and sustainability, and conservation of the environment (Chen et al., 2020). The challenge for developing countries which biodiversity-rich is using their biological resources in methods and production processes, which need to be done along with environmental sustainability using natural resources (Zuin et al., 2020). That's why different approaches have been adopted in this field by using modern green process engineering (MGPE), like the production of nanoparticles (NPs) from biological systems (Mondal et al., 2020) Nanoparticles (NPs) are a broad series of substances with measurements less than 100 nm, that can be utilized in different processes of different sectors, such as agriculture, materials and manfacturing, mechanical industries, medical, pharmaceutical, environmental due to their multiple characteristics (Guleria et al., 2020). The use of agricultural NPs is now being investigated in nano-barcoding, nano-sensors, seed germination, transport hormones in plants, transfer of target genes, water management and plant disease management (Hayles et al., 2017). Plant pathogens and pests' reason significant declines in production yield, with global decline projected at 20% – 40% each year (Flood, 2010). Recent pest management depends intensively on the use of chemicals, such as herbicides, fungicides, and insecticides. Although, use of aforesaid chemical have attractive benefits such as high availability, reliability, and raid action, but toxic substances resulted in severe impacts to non-targeted objects, and pathogens are becoming more stronger and developing immunity against different pesticides, herbicides and fungicides (Ghormade et al., 2011). This phenomenon supported the idea of some incentive to improve cost-effective, high-performance fungicides with minor impacts to the environment. The utilization of biological systems, such as bacteria, fungi, and algae, to synthesize NPs has benefits such as lower energy usage and clean and safe technology without the use of harmful chemicals (Mie et al., 2014). Utilization of different nanotechnology techniques in protecting plants against different diseases is just at its initial phase (Elmer and White, 2018). NPs can protect the plant by adopting two procedures (a) NPs by themselves promoting crop protection or (b) NPs as serving carriers for existing an individual or combine pesticides or other active compounds (Worrall et al., 2018). Therefore, in current review, we have tried to observe complete aspect of the biosynthesis and mechanisms of metal nanoparticles from microbes like fungi, bacteria, and algae along with their ability to act as an antimicrobial agent and the mode of their action.

2. Green synthesis of nanoparticles

Day by day, multiple techniques are produced for the nanoparticle synthesis. Biological procedures, physical procedures, and chemical procedures are the three basic groups of these techniques. Anyhow the most appropriate procedure to synthesize NP is the biological procedure owing to its uncomplicatedness, harmlessness, and cost-effectiveness. The reducing and capping agents are performing a significant role in the NP synthesis. Chemical materials that are employed in the physical and chemical procedures of synthesis of NP are hazardous and extremely toxic, which are responsible for environmental issues. Chemical and microorganisms being used in biological processes are not only harmless to surrounding environment but also safe for no targeted organisms. That's why most appropriate and recommended process for NS synthesis are biological processes (Awwad et al., 2013). At present there is dire need of developing sustainable procedures and methods to nanoparticles, as NPs are needed to use in areas are in direct link of humans (Shams et al., 2013). By developing understanding of green and sustainable technologies, we can develop safe strategies to use NPs and can be grouped in following five methods:

2.1. Polysaccharide method

Green synthesis of AgNPs using the polysaccharide method (cellulose) from biological applications as an example of biological applications for environmental sustainability. water hyacinth (biological applications) has a high percentage of cellulose in its shoot and roots. The cellulose was extracted from the shoot or roots of the plant and used as reducing and stabilizing agents. Also, the particle shape and size were under control by changing the pH of the solution and reaction time (Mochochoko et al., 2013).

2.2. Tollens method

The Tollens reaction is mild, facile, and managed in a single biosynthetic phase. In this method, Tollens-reagent and reducing sugars have based role in the Ag + ions reduction, yielding AgNPs with a high degree of size- and shape-control of AgNPs. the smallest size of AgNPs has ranged from 5 to 8 nm when used triazole sugar (Korbekandi et al., 2013).

2.3. Irradiation method

The gamma irradiation method is fairly suitable to synthesis the small metallic NPs. This method can be carried out in absence of reducing agents at room temperature. The gamma irradiation utilized a templating model to confine the locus of reaction into virtual "nanoreactors" or "nanomolds," to controlled in particle size and shape or template-free model (Flores-Rojas et al., 2020).

2.4. Polyoxometalates method

Polyoxometalates (POMs) are a vast group of molecular metaloxide have much application owing to their unique compositions, structures. Meanwhile, reduced forms of POMs have a great capacity of electron storage and/or transfer capacities, and therefore, it can be engaged to serve as an effective acceptors or donors of numerous electrons. Henceforth, soluble polyoxometalates are proficient in synthesizing noble NPs by multi-electron redox reactions by a one-step reaction at room temperature (Cauerhff and Castro 2013).

Table 1

AgNPs and AuNPs of varying size and shape from fungal species.

Fungi	Nanoparticles	Characterization		Location	Reference
		Size	Shape		
Alternaria alternate A. oryzae var. viridis	Au Au	12–29 10–60	Spherical, triangular, hexagonal Spherical,	Extracellular Mycelial surface	Sarkar et al. 2012 Binupriya et al., 2010
Fusarium oxysporum P. fellutanum T. koningii	Au Ag Au	20-50 5-25 10-14	Spherical, Spherical Spherical	Extracellular Extracellular Cell-free filtrate	Husen and Siddiqi, 2014 Kathiresan et al., 2009 Maliszewska 2013
T. viride Bacteria	Ag	5-40	Spherical	Extracellular	Fayaz et al., 2010
Bacillus endophyticus	Ag	5-35	Spherical	Intracellular	Gan et al., 2018 Vijavabbarathi et al. 2018
Nocardiopsis flavascens	Ag	19–40 5–50	Spherical	Extracellular	Ranjani et al., 2018
Caldicellulosiruptor changbaiensis Shewanella loihica	Au Au	20–60 2–15	Spherical Spherical	Extracellular Intracellular/Extracellular	Bing et al., 2018 Ahmed et al., 2018
Micrococcus yunnanensis	Au	15-55	Spherical	Extracellular	Jafari et al., 2018

2.5. Biological method

It has been shown that biological synthesis is significant nanofactories that hold enormous potential as eco-friendly and profitable equipment, evading noxious, severe substances, and the great energy needs essential for chemical and physical procedures. The biological protocol includes the synthesis of NPs by utilizing organism like plant and microorganisms such as bacteria, fungi, and yeast. The theory of biological synthesis based on many organisms were become evolved to tolerate conditions of enriched metal concentrations. Such micro-organisms have ability to change the more toxic chemicals and substances in less toxic and harmful components or convert them in complete nontoxic substances (Sharma and Bisen, 1992). The development of NPs is an establishment of the "consequence" of the tolerance procedures of an organism into high-concentration specific metal. The biosynthesis of "Natural" biogenic metallic NP synthesis is divided into two major categories: (a) Bio reduction: Relatively strong models of metallic ions may be obtained by bio reduction reaction utilizing biological protocol resources and is obtained by dissimilar metal reduction. The metal ion has been oxidized and reduced by specific enzymes (Deplanche et al., 2010). (b) Biosorption: The metallic ions have been connected to the organism itself from an aquatic or soil sample. The ions of metal are binding to the peptides or cell walls chain were synthesized by bacteria and fungi after that these peptides chains are formed strong structures of NPs (Yong et al. 2002). Advantages of green or biological synthesize involve a non-toxic chemical used in biosynthesis, significant product, energy efficiency, low-cost production, good economic value, lowest waste, therefore, is called environmentally-friendly processes, competitive advantages, protect human health and fewer risks at biosynthesis time.

3. Microbial synthesis of nanoparticles by microbes

3.1. Fungi

Many fungal species have great ability for making different metal NPs which can be utilized in various processes. More than 6,000 biologically active compounds are recognized to be formed by filamentous fungal species especially (imperfect fungi and ascomycetes) and other fungal species (Bérdy, 2005). These microorganisms are extensively used as reducing and stabilizing agents, due to tolerance of heavy metal and the ability to bioaccumulate and internalize metals. In addition, fungal species can be simply developed on a broder scale (nanofactories) and can provide NPs with morphology and controlled-size (Khan et al., 2017). AgNPs and AuNPs have been produced from various fungi, as seen in Table 1.

3.1.1. The mechanism of biosynthesis of NPs using fungi

3.1.1.1. Intracellular synthesis. In the case of intracellular synthesis, the metal primary is added to the culture and became interior the biomass. So, extraction of the NPs is wanted after the biosynthesis, employing chemical processing, centrifugation, and filtration to rid of the biomass and releasing the NPs (Molnár et al., 2018). The intracellular mechanism requires particular ion transportation in the fungal cell. In the intracellular biosynthesis of Ns, the cell wall presents an important role. The mechanism entails, electrostatic interaction of the positive charge (+) of the metal ions with the negative charge (-) of the cell wall. The enzymes link to the cell wall converts the ions into NPs, and these NPs are diffused across the cell wall (Nasreen et al., 2014). A stepwise mechanism for intracellular synthesis of NPs using Verticillium sp., this mechanism based on three steps, 1) trapping, 2) capping, and 3) bioreduction. It is an electrostatic interaction as the fungal cell surface contact with metal ions and traps the ions. The enzymes in the cell wall bioreduce metal ions to NPs of metal (Molnár et al., 2018). NPs synthesized using the intracellular system are smaller in size compared to the extracellular system synthesized NPs (Thakkar et al. 2010). The small size of NPs could be possibly due to the formation of particles inside the fungi. But NPs extraction processing becomes difficult and increasing the cost of NPs synthesis (Zhang et al. 2011). There are only a few studies that showed the intracellular synthesis of NPs by fungi such as *Phoma* sp. (Chen et al., 2003) for AgNPs and Epicoccum Nigrum (Sheikhloo et al., 2011) for AuNPs.

3.1.1.2. *Extracellular synthesis.* For the extracellular synthesis of NPs, numerous methods have been suggested by many researchers

(1) At first the method recommended was the steps linked to synthesize the CdNPs by F. oxysporum. The analysis of the protein examination to identify the existence of NADH-dependent reductase and responsibility for the reduction of Cd ions (Cd²⁺) to the formation of CdNPs Ahmad et al. (2003).

(2) The second method of extracellular synthesis is the establishment by AgNPs were synthesized with the involvement of quinone and NADPH-nitrate reductase. In this case, both quinone and NADPH were provided to the electron needed to silver ion (Ag⁺) and turn it into Ag neutral (Ag⁰) Duran et al. (2005). (3) The third method of extracellular synthesis process of production of AgNPs requires the 1) NADPH and NADP are the principal roots of bioreducing and 2) hydroxyquinoline maybe works as an electron shuttle to move the electrons resulted due to the reduction process of Ag + ions to Ag0 in the existence of nitrate reductase enzyme.

Table 2

Microbes mediated synthesized metallic NPs against plant pathogens.

Microbes	Metal NPs	Major Application	Plant Disease Management	References	
			Pathogen	Host	
Fungi					
Aspergillus niger	Ag	Antifungal agent	Aspergillus flavus, Fusarium oxysporum	Multiple crops	Al-Zubaidi et al., 2019
Penicillium duclauxii	Ag	Antifungal agent	Bipolaris sorghicola	Sorghum	Almaary et al., 2020
Fusarium solani	Ag	Antifungal agent	Aspergillus spp., Alternaria spp Fusarium spp.	Barley, corn and wheat	Abd El-Aziz et al., 2015
Trichiderma hazarium	Ag	Antifungal agent	AlternariaAlternata spp., Phytophthora arenaria	Multiple crops	El-Moslamy et al., 2017
Trichodermalongibrachiatum	Ag	Antifungal agent	Alternaria alternata, Fusarium verticillioides	Multiple crops	Elamawi et al., 2018
Bacteria					
Bacillus cereus	Ag	Antibacterial agent	Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae	Rice	Ahmed et al., 2020
Bacillus licheniformis	Ag	Antiviral agent	Bean yellow mosaic virus	Faba bean	Elbeshehy et al., 2015
Bacillus thuringensis	Ag	Antiviral agent	Sun hemp rosette virus	Cluster bean	Jain et al., 2014
Bacillus siamensis	Ag	Antibacterial agent	Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae	Rice	Ibrahim et al., 2019
Pseudomonas poae	Ag	Antifungal agent	Fusarium graminearum	Wheat	Ibrahim et al., 2020

The development of hydroxyquinoline is alike to that of quinones in electron transport. SDS- PAGE of fungal protein assured the occurrence of an enzyme (Kumar et al., 2007). Type of the fourth method is Michaelis–Menten kinetics (models of enzyme kinetics) aimed to synthesize the NPs wherever the reaction at start exhibits pseudo-zero order kinetics and then tracks higher-order kinetics. Consequently, at astarting state, the quantity of silver nitrate is greater, and when the reaction continues the quantity of silver nitrate reduces significantly, the biological reduction of various metallic NP was originated by a protein having amino acid with -SH bonds and probably the cysteine undergo the process of dehydrogenation on having a reaction with silver nitrate to form AgNPs. AgNPs will be cap by the free amino acid Mukherjee et al. (2008). The fifth method describes the involvement of multiple peptides or/and proteins is play important role in the bioreduction of metal ions, meaning surface-bound peptides/protein molecules acting as a stabilizing and reducing agent to the formation of AgNPs. FTIR spectra of different fungal species' culture the existence of amide I, II, and III groups. The same mechanism was applied with AgNPs by showing the reduction of silver ions by amide I and amide II groups, also AgNPs were stabilization by fungal protein (Sanghi and Verma 2009).

3.2. Bacteria

Bacteria have been easily applied as nanofactories to synthesize different NPs. Both the intracellular and extracellular methods have described.

Both extracellular and intracellular synthesis of NPs mainly involves oxidoreductase enzymes like (NADH-dependent nitrate reductase and NADPH-dependent sulfite reductase) and factor cellular of transporters. Extracellular biological synthesis ensues exterior to the bacterial cell after using various systems, for example (1) the bacterial biomass, (b) the supernatant of bacterial cultures, and (c) cell-free extracts. These mechanisms can be intracellular or extracellular synthesis metal NPs. AgNPs and AuNPs have been produced from various bacteria, as seen in Table 2.

3.2.1. Mechanism of NPs synthesis using bacteria

3.2.1.1. Role of enzyme and proteins. Most experiments have indicated the potential role of proteins and enzymes as the key bioactive moiety that works during the synthesis of NPs as a reducing and capping agent. Various defense systems have been adopted by Bacteria, viz. Dissimilatory oxidation, metal ion reduction, precipitation, complex formation to combat the toxicity of metals (Tanzil et al. 2016). Metal NPs are generated using redox reactions which happen both extracellularly and intracellularly. Metal nanoparticles are produced either intracellularly or extracellularly by redox reactions that occur. The potential presence of nitrate reductases in metal bio reduction. Previous reports demonstrated a possible mechanism for the bio reduction of Ag⁺ to Ag⁰ using Streptomyces sp. LK3 at room temperature, this study obtained the nitrate reductase enzyme from Streptomyces sp. LK3 is responsible for biosensing (Karthik et al., 2014). Biosynthesis of AgNPs using Alcaligenes faecalis using NADH and NADH dependent reductases enzyme as reducing agent is responsible for biomediated synthesis of AgNPs (Divya et al., 2019). Bacteria like Geobacter sulfurreducens has pilin proteins as conductive to the extracellular synthesis of NPs. Pilin proteins found in bacterial external appendages has a significant function in transfer of electron and reduction to the formation of uranium nanoparticles (UNPs). In the absence of pilin proteins, uranium nanoparticles are formed inside the periplasmic space by intracellular synthesis. Pilin mode of action is significantly related to the biomineralization of uranium and extracellular synthesis of uranium nanoparticles (Reguera, 2012). This hypothesis based on AgNPs is synthesized by photoinduced electron transfer. Electron transfer through amino acids containing binding side chains like amides, aliphatic amines, alkyl groups, or alcohols have low binding energy with Ag + and allow to formation Ag⁰ clusters and produce AgNPs by photoinduction. Hence, it was found that fast exergonic aggregation of Ag⁰ into Agⁿ groups was ultimately required for effective AgNPs (Reguera, 2012).

3.2.1.2. Role of electron shuttle quinones (or redox mediators). During NP synthesis, electrons can be transported through indirect reactions via a low molecular weight redox medium such as 1) NADH and coenzyme Q or 2) oxygen / superoxide or by direct interactions between cytochrome redox proteins and metal ions. Both cytochromes and redox mediators enhance extracellular metal NPs synthesis. Shewanella oneidensis MR-1 transferring electrons by 1) metal-reducing machinery by iron III oxides (Fe₃O₄) or 2) Mtr pathway (cytochromes and proteins) for transferring electrons from the inner to the outer membrane to the surface. In bacteria, metal NPs extracellular synthesis via a similar mechanism (Shi et al., 2012). To prove the concept of cytochromes role in the extracellular NPs synthesis, a Shewanella oneidensis, mutant strain, with deficient cytochrome genes was used to for the AgNPs synthesis. The resultant AgNPs were smaller in size and lower in number as compared to the wild-type strain of the same species. Hence, it was proved that cytochrome has a significant function in electrons transportation to extracellular metal ions (Ng et al., 2013).

Cytochrome has been shown to involve the direct participation of extracellular cytochrome protein complexes. Reduction of ferric citrate ($C_6H_5FeO_7$) and ferric acid (Fe_5O_8H) with *Geobacter sulfure-ducens*, a bacterium that degrades minerals (Liu et al., 2014). In general, this report describes multi-component methods that operate individually or in complex ways to help electrons move from

F.S. Al-khattaf

the inner to the outer membrane and thus, aids in the synthesis of extracellular metal ions in NPs.

3.2.1.3. Role of exopolysaccharides. Bacterial cell that have multiple biological functionalities and have diverse biological functionalities, such as environmental tolerance, surface adherence, and celbacterial lular interactions produce and secrete exopolysaccharides (EPSs) (Rehm, 2009). EPSs have been investigated as agents for greener processing of various metal NPs because of their capacity to reducing metal ions to synthesize NPs and stabilizing them acting as capping agents (Cacchi et al., 2012). Rhamnose and pyranose sugars (EPSs) were reproductive factors in Escherichia coli for the formation of AgNPs. FTIR spectroscopy results from the interaction of EPS with metal ions showed that the two hemiacetal groups of the rhamnose and aldehyde groups in rhamnose and pyranose were related to the synthesis of AgNPs (Kang et al., 2014). Recently, a strategy was developed to synthesize AuNP using a pullulan polymer (EPSs) as a reducing agent. FTIR analysis certainly indicates that the basic structure of pullulan is not altered during AuNP synthesis by pullulan polymer. but that oxidation of fatty alcohol groups to pullulan polymer is important, correlating positively with the hypothesis that the gold ion (Au ⁺³) biosynthesis occurs.

Pullulan polymer oxidized CH₂OH groups to carboxyl group (COO-) supporting bioreduction of Au3 + to Au0 during the production of AuNPs (Choudhury et al., 2014). Ochrobactrum rhizosphaerae was used as a biosystem to synthesize and capping AgNPs and supported by EPS when its categorization by several biochemical methods proposed it as glycoprotein (GLP). Further, FTIR spectrum proved the involvement of functional group like the free CH₂OH group of GLP molecules were oxidized to a carboxyl group (COO) with synchronous bioreduction of Ag + to Ag0 resulting in the synthesis of AgNPs (Gahlawat and Choudhury, 2019). In general, it has been observed that when metal ions bind to EPSs containing reducing sugars, they are chelated and then reproduced and stabilized by different functional groups. Polyanionic groups (having more than one negative charge) are well known chemical groups required in the biological absorption and stabilization of NPs.

4. Factors affecting biological synthesis of metal nanoparticles

The structural and geomorphological physiognomies of NPs can be managed by three main parameters viz. pH, temperature and reactant concentrations. These main parameters are essential for understanding the impact of environmental features on the synthesis of NP, they may play a significant part in the optimization of the synthesis of metallic NPs by biological templates.

4.1. pH

Generally, pH of the substrate and medium acts a fundamental role in control the shape and size of the NPs. The shape and size of NPs changing with the pH of the substrate or medium and large size NPs are generated at an acidic pH (Binupriya et al., 2010). Alkaline pH promoted the synthesis of AgNPs when silver nitrate was added to the cell filtrate of the fungus *Epicoccum nigrum* Qian et al. (2013). The fungus Penicillium oxalicum-Mediated synthesis of AgNPs with different pH range was examined. The finding showed alkaline pH produced AgNPs in a less synthesis time and smaller size distribution. These features indicate enhanced stability, due to the electrostatic repulsion of anions Du et al. (2015). Synthesis of AuNPs using Aspergillus terreus is controlled by pH. At pH 8, the shape of AuNPs converts from spherical to rod with an average size 20–29 nm. At pH 10, the average size of AuNPs was in the range of 10–19 nm with a spherical shape. The gradual increase of pH leads to an increase in the reduction reaction so small synthesis AuNPs formed (Priyadarshini et al., 2014).

4.2. Effect of temperature

The temperature utilized in the production of AgNPs operating fungi could have a significant impact on main parameters such as the velocity of the synthesis and the stability and size of the AgNPs (Elamawi et al., 2018). The production rate of AgNPs by Fusarium oxysporum was increased at temperatures between 60 and 80 $^\circ$ C. Continuous increase of temperature manage fungal biomass secreted higher value of protein and acceleration of synthesis rate (Birla et al., 2013). Aspergillus oryzae used to production AgNPs, a high-temperature effect on the rate of production. If reaction starts at 30 °C temperatures can be complemented at 6 h but when used 90 °C for reaction can be finished after 10 min. while no synthesis occurred at 10 °C. meaning very significant temperature on the rate of production (Phaniom and Ahmed, 2017). No production of AgNPs was studied by utilizing the filtrate of Rhizopus stolonifer at 80 or 10 °C, which was accredited to the enzymes and support molecules may be denaturation or inactivation (AbdelRahim et al., 2017).

4.3. Effect of AgNO₃ concentration

In a great number of the various studies applying fungal species for extracellular synthesis of AgNPs, Silver nitrate (AgNO₃) was utilized at a quantity of 1 mM (Xue et al., 2016). In some studies, a lower concentration of metal precursor (AgNO₃) instigated in a smaller NPs size (Phanjom and Ahmed, 2017), but other studies achieved using the intermediate concentration of AgNO3 leads to smaller sizes of AgNPs (AbdelRahim et al., 2017). Processing of the Rhizopus stolonifer to bio-template for AgNPs obtained the smallest AgNPs size (2.86 nm) at 10 mM AgNO₃, while sizes range from 54.67 to 14.23 nm were attained at 100 and 1 mM, correspondingly (AbdelRahim et al., 2017). The concentration of AgNO₃ affects the quantity of AgNPs generated not only AgNPs size. In research using Fusarium oxysporum, it was observed that the concentration of AgNPs improved as metal predecessor quantity developed between 0.1 and 1.5 mM, although no changes remained noticed at greater concentrations (Korbekandi et al., 2013).

5. Phytopathogens control by green synthesized nanoparticles

In different areas, including plant disease control, NPs have been used (Masum et al., 2019). In general, pesticides, along with symbiotic plants, animal species and human beings, are used selectively for parasites of crop plants without affecting plants themselves. Nevertheless, the undiscriminating usage of these chemicals/pesticides remains to be significant for environmental and societal concern (Kutz et al., 1991). Furthermore, the production new strains of pathogenic is a progressive concern, the chemical or pesticide implementation is costly and not always successful. Currently, development in the field of green synthesis has encouraged researchers and scientists to use its ability against pathogenic microorganisms. Biosynthesized metallic NPs such as, gold, silver, zinc and copper, have been reported against many species of pathogenic microorganisms such as Gram-negative bacteria, Gram-positive and some fungal species. The silver NPs get more support owing many biological sources which usage for green synthesis such as fungi, bacteria or plants (Nisar et al., 2019). Nanotechnology has potential opportunities in different ways in plant pathogenic treatment. The raw usuage of NPs to seeds or

foliar spray against plant disease causing agents, that are more severely repressed, as likened to other chemical released by pesticides, is the most widely used process. in another side nanomaterials are used as carrier materials of chemical active ingredients for the controlled release of pesticide products. (Mujeebur & Tanveer 2014). A list of NP-dependent researches for plant disease control is presented in Table 2.

6. Mechanisms of nanoparticles against plant pathogenic microorganisms

The precise mode of action of NPs is not well known, against phytopathogens. Some processes have been documented to date, such as protein disruption (Hajipour et al., 2012), production and antioxidant degradation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), membrane disability work (e.g., disruption to membranes, lack of membrane permeability), genotoxicity, and transporter gene expression inhibition) (Lemire et al., 2013). These pathways cannot work independently, but act against different phytopathogenes in combina-The electrostatic attraction accrues bacterial tion. cell membranes and negatively charged NPs as negative or positive charges decrease, causing NPs to adhere to the cell membranes. The morphological properties of membranes affected by NPs and membrane depolarization disrupt membrane permeability and respiratory activity, and ultimately lead to damage to cell components, resulting in death. This breakdown of cellular structures causes the leakage of substances inside the cell, including enzymes, proteins, metabolites and DNA. In addition, NP can create irregular holes in the cell walls of microorganisms to facilitate penetration of NPs into extracellular and intracellular spaces (Alghuthaymi et al., 2015). NP behavior of membrane damage and cell surface perforations formed can be observed using TEM. TEM exhibits severe disruption of cell walls, leakage of nuclear and cytoplasmic material, and swelling. It causes bacterial death. (Masum et al., 2019, Ibrahim et al., 2020). Related effects with AgNPs have also been found in several other plant fungi, such as Alternaria alternata and Trichosporon asahii. NP toxicity can occur due to ROS formation (Xia et al., 2016). Free radicals can destroy cell walls and various biological molecules like cell wall, proteins, fats, and DNA. DNA damage can occur, for example deletions, mutations, and single strand rupture, double strand breakage, and protein crosslinking (Soenen et al., 2011). Antimicrobial pathways include cell membrane damage and ROS formation (Zhang et al., 2018). Cell membrane damage and AgNP were detected in Azotobacter vinelandii cells by TEM and AgNP-induced hydroxyl radicals were detected in bacterial cells using electron spin resonance.

7. Environmental risks of nanoparticles

In addition to this benefit, certain harmful or harmful impacts of such NPs on different factors of the ecosystem can be revealed in many studies that NPs may be utilized to monitor or regulate plant disease causing agents (Worrall et al., 2018). The NPs that were utilized for controlling plant pathogens may be dispersion from the agricultural land to the soil, water and atmosphere. The dispersion can transport by air and can occur leaching, surface run-off by rain, (Morales-Díaz et al., 2017). Therefore, in agriculture treatment by nanomaterials is required a standard usage for ecologically sustainable and safe environment. The use of NPs for the treatment of plant pathogens. Knowledge of potential risks for direct or indirect application to crop plants and the ecosystem in which crop plants interact with animals, microorganisms or humans should be accompanied. The use of NPs for the treatment of plant pathogens. Knowledge of potential risks for utilization on crops and interaction with ecosystem which the plants have.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- AbdelRahim, K., Mahmoud, S.Y., Ali, A.M., Almaary, K.S., Mustafa, A.E.Z., Husseiny, S. M., 2017. Extracellular biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using *Rhizopus* stolonifer. Saudi J. Biol. Sci. 24, 208–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. sjbs.2016.02.025.
- Ahmad, A., Mukherjee, P., Senapati, S., Mandal, D., Kahn, M.I., Kumar, R., 2003. Extracellular biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using the fungus Fusarium oxysporum. Colloids Surf. B Biointerf. 28, 313–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0927-7765(02)00174-1.
- Alghuthaymi, M.A., Almoammar, H., Rai, M., Said-Galiev, E., Abd-Elsalam, K.A., 2015. Myconanoparticles: Synthesis and their role in phytopathogens management. Biotechnol. Biotechnol. Equip. 29, 221–236.
- Awwad, A., Salem, N., Abdeen, A., 2013. Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using carob leaf extract and its antibacterial activity. Int. J. Ind. Chem. 4 (1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1186/2228-5547-4-29.
- Bérdy, J., 2005. Bioactive microbial metabolites. J. Antibiot. 58, 1–26. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ja.2005.1.
- Binupriya, A.R., Sathishkumar, M., Vijayaraghavan, K., Yun, S.I., 2010. Bioreduction of trivalent aurum to nanocrystalline gold particles by active and inactive cells and cell free extract of *Aspergillus oryzae* var. viridis. J. Hazard Mater. 177, 539– 545.
- Birla, S.S., Gaikwad, S.C., Gade, A.K., Rai, M.K., 2013. Rapid synthesis of silver nanoparticles from Fusarium oxysporum by optimizing physicocultural conditions. Sci. World J. 2013, ID paper 796018, doi: 10.1155/2013/796018.
- Cacchi, S., Caponetti, E., Casadei, M., Di Giulio, A., Fabrizi, G., Forte, G. Goggiamani A., Moreno S., Paolicelli P., Petrucci F., Prastaroa A. Saladino, M.L., 2012. Suzuki-Miyaura cross-coupling of arenediazonium salts catalyzed by alginate/gellanstabilized palladium nanoparticles under aerobic conditions in water. Green Chemistry, 14,317–320, doi.org/10.1039/C2GC15679B.
- Cauerhff, A., Castro, G.R., 2013. Bionanoparticles, a green nanochemistry approach. Electron J Biotechnol. 16, 1–10.
- Chen, J.C., Lin, Z.H., Ma, X.X., 2003. Evidence of the production of silver nanoparticles via pretreatment of Phoma sp.3.2883 with silver nitrate. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 37, 105–108.
- Chen, T.L., Kim, H., Pan, S.Y., Tseng, P.C., Lin, Y.P., Chiang, P.C., 2020. Implementation of green chemistry principles in circular economy system towards sustainable development goals: Challenges and perspectives. Sci. Total Environ. 716, 136998.
- Choudhury, A.R., Malhotra, A., Bhattacharjee, P., Prasad, G., 2014. Facile and rapid thermo-regulated biomineralization of gold by pullulan and study of its thermodynamic parameters. Carbohydr. Polym. 106, 154–159.
- Deplanche, K., Caldelari, I., Mikheenko, I., Sargent, F., Macaskie, L., 2010. Involvement of hydrogenases in the formation of highly catalytic Pd(0) nanoparticles by bioreduction of Pd(II) using Escherichia coli strains. Microbiology 156, 2630–2640. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.036681-0.
- Divya, M., George, S.K., Saqib, H., Joseph, S., 2019. Biogenic synthesis and effect of silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) to combat catheter-related urinary tract infections. Biocatal. Agric. Biotechnol. 18, 101037.
- Du, L., Xu, Q., Huang, M., Xian, L., Feng, J.X., 2015. Synthesis of small silver nanoparticles under light radiation by fungus Penicillium oxalicum and its application for the catalytic reduction of methylene blue. Mater. Chem. Phys. 160, 40–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matchemphys.2015.04.003.
- Duran, N., Marcato, P.D., Alves, O.L., De Souza, G.I.H., Esposito, E., 2005. Mechanistic aspects of biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles by several Fusarium oxysporum strains. J Nanobiotechnol 3, 1–8.
- Elamawi, R.M., Al-Harbi, R.E., Hendi, A.A., 2018. Biosynthesis and characterization of silver nanoparticles using *Trichoderma longibrachiatum* and their effect on phytopathogenic fungi. Egypt. J. Biol. Pest Control. 28, 28. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s41938-018-0028-1.
- Elmer, W., White, J.C., 2018. The Future of Nanotechnology in Plant Pathology. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 56, 111–133.
- Flood, J., 2010. The importance of plant health to food security. Food Secur. 2, 215–231.
- Flores-Rojas, G.G., López-Saucedo, F., Bucio, E., 2020. Gamma-irradiation applied in the synthesis of metallic and organic nanoparticles: A short review. Radiation Physics and Chemistry 169, (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. radphyschem.2018.08.011 107962.
- Gahlawat, G., Choudhury, A.R., 2019. A review on the biosynthesis of metal and metal salt nanoparticles by microbes. RSC Adv. 9, 12944–12967.
- Ghormade, V., Deshpande, M.V., Paknikar, K.M., 2011. Perspectives for nanobiotechnology enabled protection and nutrition of plants. Biotechnol. Adv. 29, 792–803.
- Guleria, A., Neogy, S., Raorane, B.S., Adhikari, S., 2020. Room temperature ionic liquid assisted rapid synthesis of amorphous Se nanoparticles: Their prolonged stabilization and antioxidant studies. Mater. Chem. Phys. 253, 123369.
- Hajipour, M.J., Fromm, K.M., Akbar, A.A., Jimenez de Aberasturi, D., de Larramendi, I. R., Rojo, T., Serpooshan, V., Parak, W.J., Mahmoudi, M., 2012. Antibacterial properties of nanoparticles. Trends Biotechnol. 30, 499–511.

- Hayles, J., Johnson, L., Worthley, C., Losic, D., 2017. Nanopesticides: A review of current research and perspectives. New Pestic. Soil Sens. 114, 193–225.
- Hurst, G.A., 2020. Systems thinking approaches for international green chemistry education. Curr. Opin. Green Sustain. Chem. 21, 93–97.
- Ibrahim, E., Zhang, M., Zhang, Y., Hossain, A., Qiu, W., Chen, Y., Wang, Y., Wu, W., Sun, G., Li, B., 2020. Green-Synthesization of silver nanoparticles using endophytic bacteria isolated from garlic and its antifungal activity against wheat fusarium head blight pathogen *Fusarium graminearum*. Nanomaterials (Basel) 10, 219–244.
- Kang, F., Alvarez, P.J., Zhu, D., 2014. Microbial extracellular polymeric substances reduce Ag+ to silver nanoparticles and antagonize bactericidal activity. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 316–322. https://doi.org/10.1021/es403796x.
- Karthik, L., Kumar, G., Kirthi, A., Rahuman, V.A., Rao, K., 2014. Streptomyces sp. LK3 mediated synthesis of silver nanoparticles and its biomedical application. B Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng. 37, 261–267.
- Khan, N.T., Khan, M.J., Jameel, J., Jameel, N., Rheman, S.U.A., 2017. An overview: biological organisms that serves as nanofactories for metallic nanoparticles synthesis and fungi being the most appropriate. Bioceram Dev. Appl. 7, 101. https://doi.org/10.4172/2090-5025.1000101.
- Korbekandi, H., Ashari, Z., Iravani, S., Abbasi, S., 2013. Optimization of biological synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Fusarium oxysporum. Iran. J. Pharm. Res. 12, 289–298.
- Kumar, S.A., Abyaneh, M.K., Gosavi, S.W., 2007. Nitrate reductase-mediated synthesis of silver nanoparticles from AgNO3. Biotechnol. Lett. 29, 439–445.
- Kutz, F.W., Wood, P.H., Bottimore, D.P., 1991. Organochlorine pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls in human adipose tissue. Rev. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 120, 1–82.
- Lemire, J.A., Harrison, J.J., Turner, R.J., 2013. Antimicrobial activity of metals: Mechanisms, molecular targets and applications. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 11, 371– 384.
- Liu, Y. Wang, Z. Liu, J. Levar, C. Edwards, M.J. Babauta, J.T. Kennedy, D.W. Shi Z., Beyenal, H., Bond D.R., 2014. A trans-outer membrane porin-cytochrome protein complex for extracellular electron transfer by Geobacter sulfurreducens PCA. Environ. Microbiol. Rep., 6, 776–785.
- Masum, M.M.I., Siddiqa, M.M., Ali, K.A., Zhang, Y., Abdallah, Y., Ibrahim, E., Qiu, W., Yan, C., Li, B., 2019. Biogenic synthesis of silver nanoparticles using *phyllanthus emblica* fruit extract and its inhibitory action against the pathogen acidovorax oryzae strain RS-2 of Rice Bacterial Brown Stripe. Front. Microbiol. 10, 820.
- Menges, N., 2017. The Role of Green Solvents and Catalysts at the Future of Drug Design and of Synthesis. Green Chem. https://doi.org/10.5772/ intechopen.71018.
- Mie, R., Samsudin, M.W., Din, L.B., Ahmad, A., Ibrahim, N., Adnan, S.N., 2014. Synthesis of silver nanoparticles with antibacterial activity using the lichen *Parmotrema praesorediosum*. Int. J. Nanomed. 9, 121–127.
- Mochochoko, T., Oluwafemi, O.S., Jumbam, D.N., Songca, S.P., 2013. Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using cellulose extracted from an aquatic weed; water hyacinth. Carbohydr Polym. 8, 290–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. carbpol.2013.05.038.
- Molnár, Z., Bódai, V., Szakacs, G., Erdélyi, B., Fogarassy, Z., Sáfrán, G., 2018. Green synthesis of gold nanoparticles by thermophilic filamentous fungi. Sci. Rep. 8, 3943. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-22112-3.
- Mondal, P., Anweshan, A., Purkait, M.K., 2020. Green synthesis and environmental application of iron-based nanomaterials and nanocomposite: A review. Chemosphere 259, 127509.
- Morales-Díaz, A.B., Ortega-Ortíz, H., Juárez-Maldonado, A., Cadenas-Pliego, G., González-Morales, S., Benavides-Mendoza, A., 2017. Application of nanoelements in plant nutrition and its impact in ecosystems. Adv. Nat. Sci. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 8, 013001.
- Mujeebur, R.K., Tanveer, F.R., 2014. Nanotechnology: Scope and Application in Plant Disease Management. Plant Pathol. J. 13, 214–231.
 Mukherjee, P., Roy, M., Mandal, B.P., 2008. Green synthesis of highly stabilized
- Mukherjee, P., Roy, M., Mandal, B.P., 2008. Green synthesis of highly stabilized nanocrystalline silver particles by a nonpathogenic and agriculturally important fungus *T. asperellum*. Nanotechnology 19, 103–110.
- Nasreen, I., Hulkoti, T., Taranath, C., 2014. Biosynthesis of nanoparticles using microbes-A review. Colloids Surf. B Biointerf. 121, 474–483. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2014.05.027.
- Ng, C.K. Sivakumar, K. Liu, X. Madhaiyan, M. Ji, L. Yang, L. Tang C., Song H., Kjelleberg S. Cao, B., 2013. Influence of outer membrane c-type cytochromes on particle size and activity of extracellular nanoparticles produced by Shewanella oneidensis. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 110, 1831–1837.
- Nisar, P., Ali, N., Rahman, L., Ali, M., Shinwari, Z.K., 2019. Antimicrobial activities of biologically synthesized metal nanoparticles: An insight into the mechanism of action. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 24, 929–941.
- Phanjom, P., Ahmed, G., 2017. Effect of different physicochemical conditions on the synthesis of silver nanoparticles using fungal cell filtrate of *Aspergillus oryzae* (MTCC No. 1846) and their antibacterial effects. Adv. Nat. Sci. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 8, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1088/2043-6254/aa92bc.
- Priyadarshini E., Nilotpala P., Lala B.S., Prasanna K.P., 2014. Controlled Synthesis of Gold Nanoparticles Using Aspergillus terreus IFO and Its Antibacterial Potential against Gram Negative Pathogenic Bacteria. Journal of Nanotechnology, 2014, Article ID 653198, 9 pages, http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/653198.
- Qian, Y., Yu, H., He, D., Yang, H., Wang, W., Wan, X., Wang, L., 2013. Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles by the endophytic fungus *Epicoccum nigrum* and their

activity against pathogenic fungi. Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng. 36, 1613–1619. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00449-013-0937-z.

- Reguera, G., 2012. Electron transfer at the cell-uranium interface in *Geobacter* spp. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 40, 1227–1232.
- Sanghi, R., Verma, P., 2009. Biomimetic synthesis and characterization of protein capped silver nanoparticles. Bioresour Technol. 100, 502–504.
- Shams, S., Pourseyedi, S., Raisi, M., 2013. Green Synthesis of Ag nanoparticles in the present of Lens culinaris seed exudates. Int. J. Agrcul. Crop Sci. 5, 2812– 2815.
- Sharma, S.K., Bisen, P.S., 1992. Hg2+ and Cd2+ induced inhibition of light induced proton efflux in the cyanobacterium anabaena flos-aquae. Biometalsm 5, 163– 167. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01061323.
- Shi, L., Rosso, K.M., Clarke, T.A., Richardson, D.J., Zachara, J.M., Fredrickson, J.K., 2012. Molecular Underpinnings of Fe (III) Oxide Reduction by Shewanella Oneidensis MR-1. Front. Microbiol. 3, 50–64.
- Soenen, S., Rivera-Gil, P., Montenegro, J.M., Parak, W.J., De Smedt, S., Braeckmans, K., 2011. Cellular toxicity of inorganic nanoparticles: Common aspects and guidelines for improved nanotoxicity evaluation. Nano Today 6, 446–465.
- Tanzil, A.H., Sultana, S.T., Saunders, S.R., Liang, S., Enrico, M., Beyenal, H., 2016. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 95, 4–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enzmictec.2016.07.015.
- Thakkar, K.N., Mhatre, S.S., Parikh, R.Y., 2010. Biological synthesis of metallic nanoparticles. Nanomedicine 6, 257–262.
- Worrall, E.A., Hamid, A., Mody, K.T., Mitter, N., Pappu, H.R., 2018. Nanotechnology for plant disease management. Agronomy 8, 285.
- Xia, Z.K., Ma, Q.H., Li, S.Y., Zhang, D.Q., Cong, L., Tian, Y.L., Yang, R.Y., 2016. The antifungal effect of silver nanoparticles on Trichosporon asahii. J. Microbiol. Immunol. Infect. 49, 182–188.
- Xue, B., He, D., Gao, S., Wang, D., Yokoyama, K., Wang, L., 2016. Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles by the fungus Arthroderma fulvum and its antifungal activity against genera of Candida, Aspergillus and Fusarium. Int. J. Nanomed. 11, 1899– 1906.
- Yong, P., Rowson, N.A., Farr, J.P.G., Harris, I.R., Macaskie, L.E., 2002. Bioaccumulation of palladiumby Desulfovibrio desulfuricans. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 77, 593–601. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.606.
- Sheikhloo, Z., Salouti, M., Katiraee, F., 2011. Biological Synthesis of gold nanoparticles by fungus *Epicoccum Nigrum*. J. Cluster Sci. 22, 661–665. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10876-011-0412-4.
- Zhang, X., Yan, S., Tyagi, R.D., Surampalli, R.Y., 2011. Synthesis of nanoparticles by microorganisms and their application in enhancing microbiological reaction rates. Chemosphere 82, 489–494.
- Zhang, L., Wu, L., Si, Y., Shu, K., 2018. Size-dependent cytotoxicity of silver nanoparticles to Azotobacter vinelandii: Growth inhibition, cell injury, oxidative stress and internalization. PLoS ONE 3, 209–220.
- Zuin, V.G., Stahl, A.M., Zanotti, K., Segatto, M.L., 2020. Green and Sustainable Chemistry in Latin America: Which type of research is going on? And for what? Curr. Opin. Green Sustain. Chem., 100379–110084 https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cogsc.2020.100379.
- Rehm B.H.A., Ed., 2009. Microbial Production of Biopolymers and Polymer Precursors: Applications and Perspectives, Caister Academic Press
- Al-Zubaidi, S., Alayafi, A.A., Abdelkader, H.S., 2019. Biosynthesis, Characterization and Antifungal Activity of Silver Nanoparticles by Aspergillus niger Isolate. J. Nanotechnol. Res. 1, 23–36.
- Almaary, K.S., Sayed, S.R.M., Abd-Elkader, O.H., Dawoud, T.M., El Orabi, N.F., Elgorban, A.M., 2020. Complete green synthesis of silver- nanoparticles applying seed-borne *Penicillium duclauxii*. Saudi J. Biol. Sci. 27, 133–1339.Abd El-Aziz, A.R.M., Al-Othman, M.R., Mahmoud, M.A., Metwaly, H.A., 2015.
- Abd El-Aziz, A.R.M., Al-Othman, M.R., Mahmoud, M.A., Metwaly, H.A., 2015. Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using Fusarium solani and its impact on grain borne fungi. Dig. J. Nanomater. Biostruct. 10, 655–662.
- El-Moslamy, S.H., Elkady, M.F., Rezk, A.H., Abdel-Fattah, Y.R., 2017. Applying Taguchi design and large-scale strategy for mycosynthesis of nano-silver from endophytic Trichoderma harzianum SYA.F4 and its application against phytopathogens. Sci. Rep. 7, 45297.
- Ahmed, T., Shahid, M., Noman, M., Niazi, M.B.K., Mahmood, F., Manzoor, I., Zhang, Y., Li, B., Yang, Y., Yan, C., 2020. Silver Nanoparticles Synthesized by Using Bacillus cereus SZT1 Ameliorated the Damage of Bacterial Leaf Blight Pathogen in Rice. Pathogens 9, 160.
- Elbeshehy, E.K.F., Elazzazy, A.M., Aggelis, G., 2015. Silver nanoparticles synthesis mediated by new isolates of Bacillus spp.; nanoparticle characterization and their activity against Bean Yellow Mosaic Virus and human pathogens. Front. Microbiol. 6, 453.
- Jain, D.; Kothari, S. Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles and their application in Kang, F., Alvarez, P.J., Zhu, D., 2014. Microbial extracellular polymeric substances reduce Ag+ to silver nanoparticles and antagonize bactericidal activity. Environ Sci Technol. 48,316-322. doi: 10.1021/es403796x.
- Ibrahim, E., Fouad, H., Zhang, M., Zhang, Y., Qiu, W., Yan, C., Li, B., Mo, J., Chen, J., 2019. Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using endophytic bacteria and their role in inhibition of rice pathogenic bacteria and plant growth promotion. RSC Adv. 9, 29293–29299.
- Gan, L., Zhang, S., Zhang, Y., He, S., Tian, Y., 2018. Biosynthesis, characterization and antimicrobial activity of silver nanoparticles by a halotolerant *Bacillus endophyticus* SCU-L. Prep. Biochem. Biotechnol. 48, 582–588.
- Vijayabharathi, R., Sathya, A., Gopalakrishnan, S., 2018. Extracellular biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using *Streptomyces griseoplanus* SAI-25 and its antifungal

F.S. Al-khattaf

activity against *Macrophomina phaseolina*, the charcoal rot pathogen of sorghum. Biocatal. Agric. Biotechnol. 14, 166–171.

- Ranjani, A., Gopinath, P.M., Ananth, S., Narchonai, G., Santhanam, P., Thajuddin, N., Dhanasekaran, D., 2018. Multidimensional dose–response toxicity exploration of silver nanoparticles from *Nocardiopsis flavascens* RD30. Appl. Nanosci. 8, 699– 713.
- Bing, W., Sun, H., Wang, F., Song, Y., Ren, J., 2018. Hydrogen-producing Hyper thermophilic Bacteria Synthesized Size-controllable Fine Gold Nanoparticles with Excellence for Eradicating Biofilm and Antibacterial Applications. J. Mater. Chem. B. 6, 4602–4609. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8TB00549D.
- Ahmed, E., Kalathil, S., Shi, L., Alharbi, O., Wang, P., 2018. Synthesis of ultra-small platinum, palladium and gold nanoparticles by *Shewanella loihica* PV-4 electrochemically active biofilms and their enhanced catalytic activities. J. Saudi Chem. Soc. 22, 919–929.
- Jafari, M., Rokhbakhsh-Zamin, F., Shakibaie, M., Moshafi, M.H., Ameri, A., Rahimi, H. R., Forootanfar, H., 2018. Cytotoxic and antibacterial activities of biologically synthesized gold nanoparticles assisted by Micrococcus yunnanensis strain J2.

Biocatal. Agric. Biotechnol. 215, 245–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bcab.2018.06.014.

- Husen, A., Siddiqi, K.S., 2014. Plants and microbes assisted selenium nanoparticles: characterization and application. J. Nanobiotechnol. 12, 28–39.
- Kathiresan, K., Manivannan, S., Nabeel, M., Dhivya, B., 2009. Studies on silver nanoparticles synthesized by a marine fungus, Penicillium fellutanum isolated from coastal mangrove sediment. Coll. Surf. B Biointerf. 71, 133–137.
- Maliszewska, I., 2013. Microbial mediated synthesis of gold nanoparticles: preparation, characterization and cytotoxicity studies. Dig. J. Nanomater. Bios. 8, 1123–1131.
- Fayaz, M., Tiwary, C.S., Kalaichelvan, P.T., Venkatesan, R., 2010. Blue orange light emission from biogenic synthesized silver nanoparticles using Trichoderma viride. Coll. Surf. B Biointerf. 75, 175–178.
- Sarkar J., Ray S., Chattopadhyay D., Laskar A., Acharya K. 22012. Mycogenesis of gold nanoparticles using a phytopathogen Alternaria alternata. Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng. 35, 637–643.